

# **OMBUDSMAN ASSESSMENT REPORT**

Complaint Regarding IFC's Involvement in the Pan African Paper Mills project

OCTOBER 15, 2008

Office of the Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman International Finance Corporation/ Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency

# **CONTENTS**

Introduction
The Complaint
The Project
CAO Ombudsman Assessment
I. Rationale2
II. Methodology2
III. Key issues raised in the complainant
IV. Additional issues raised during the assessment
V. Response and perspectives of PPM5
VI. Response and perspectives of IFC6
VII. CAO Ombudsman Assessment of Opportunities and Next Steps7
Appendix I:
Center for Environmental Programmes and Education (CEDEP)
Response to Preliminary Assessment Report
Appendix II:
Pan-African Paper Mills (PPM)
Response to Preliminary Assessment Report

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Compliance Advisor Ombudsman (CAO) is the independent recourse mechanism for the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). The CAO reports directly to the President of the World Bank Group. Its mandate is to address complaints brought by communities or individuals affected by IFC or MIGA projects in a fair, objective, and constructive manner, and to enhance the social and environmental outcomes of these projects.

Upon determining that a complaint meets the specified criteria for a CAO intervention, the CAO Ombudsman conducts an assessment of the situation to clarify the issues, facilitate communication between the parties about their perspectives and interests, and help them identify opportunities for resolution.

#### THE COMPLAINT

The current compliant was filed in February 2008 by Resources Conflict Institute (RECONCILE), an environmental NGO based in Nakuru, Kenya. The complaint states that it is made on behalf of and with the authority of the residents of Webuye Town and members of the Centre for Environmental and Development Education Programmes (CEDEP), also based in the same town.

According to the complaint, the residents of Webuye believe they have been and continue to be negatively impacted by noxious, gaseous discharge into the air surrounding the facility, and by the release of untreated effluent into the River Nzoia by Pan African Paper Mill (PPM). The impacts stemming from these environmental conditions, according to the complaint, have resulted in a number of long-standing health and social problems that are impacting the entire community.

#### THE PROJECT

The IFC first invested in Pan-African Paper Mills (PPM) in 1974, and since then has supported the company through seven separate loans and equity investments. The main shareholders are Orient Paper and Industries, Ltd., a member of the Birla Group of India (54%), and the Government of Kenya (41%). PPM produces paper for domestic consumption in Kenya, providing the majority of the country's supply.

IFC currently has an outstanding loan to PPM of nearly \$30 million (USD). Through the years, the project's financial situation has deteriorated, due in part to dwindling wood supply and high fuel costs. In May of 1994, IFC led a financial restructuring of the company. Both the restructuring (in 1998) and the final IFC loan (in 1996) were intended to support a Technical Upgrade Program that included the elimination of elemental chlorine bleaching and conversion to chlorine dioxide. According to IFC, by March of 1996 the upgrade program had not been fully completed due to the continued cash flow difficulties. In May 2008, the Government of Kenya pledged to inject additional cash and adequate wood supply to help keep the company solvent.

#### **CAO OMBUDSMAN ASSESSMENT**

#### I. Rationale

CAO Ombudsman assessments seek to clarify issues and concerns raised by complainants, to gather information on the perspectives and interests of other impacted stakeholders who may not have signed the complaint, and to assist the parties in determining their best alternatives for resolving the issues. It does not gather information to determine fault or make judgments on the merits of a complaint.

To be eligible for CAO assessment, complaints must demonstrate that:

- The complaint pertains to a project that IFC/MIGA is participating in, or is actively considering.
- The issues raised in the complaint pertain to the CAO's mandate to address environmental and social impacts of IFC/MIGA investments.
- The complainant may be affected if the social and/or environmental impacts raised in the complaint occurred.

The CAO determined that the eligibility criteria were met in this case, and initiated an Ombudsman assessment in March 2008.

# II. Methodology

Following eligibility determination, the CAO Ombudsman met with IFC project team members who are working on the PPM project to summarize the issues raised in the complaint and discuss the history and current situation on the ground.

The Ombudsman team also spoke by telephone with the signatories to the complaint to discuss the issues, review CAO's operational procedures and complaint-handling process, and to schedule meetings in advance of a May 2008 site visit.

From May 11 to 16, 2008, a CAO team held meetings in Kenya with the following stakeholder groups:

- Signatories to the complaint from the NGO RECONCILE in Nakruru;
- PPM senior management in Webuye for an initial meeting to discuss the agenda and stakeholder list;
- Representatives of CEDEP (Center for Environmental and Development Education Programmes), a locally based NGO working in partnership with RECONCILE, for an initial meeting and to discuss the agenda and stakeholders;
- Residents, civic leaders and members of local NGOs and civil society organizations at a
  meeting in Webuye City Hall. Participants shared their perspectives on company-community
  relations, and worked in small groups to identify potential strategies for addressing and
  resolving issues of concern;
- A second meeting with signatories to the complaint, for a tour of the area immediately surrounding the PPM facility, including people's homes and fields, PPM effluent treatment

ponds, and a PPM plantation that serves as both a demonstration site for environmental compliance and a plant and tree nursery;

- Representative from the National Environmental Management Authority (NEMA), responsible for Bungoma District (encompassing Webuye). NEMA deals with licensing, audit review and reporting, etc.;
- The Deputy District Public Health Officer, Webuye Hospital, to discuss health issues raised by complainants and other stakeholders;
- The Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Town Clerk and Treasurer, and Town Councillors of Webuye, to discuss the perspectives of city leadership on company-community relations and possible improvements;
- A second meeting with PPM senior management for presentation of company's operations, tour of PPM facility, and final wrap-up meeting to discuss community perspectives and possible next steps.

### III. Key issues raised in the complaint

According to the complaint, PPM's operations are responsible for a number of negative health, environmental, social and economic impacts in and around the town of Webuye.

The complaint maintains that a range of health problems are afflicting a disproportionate number of residents. These include upper respiratory problems, lung and throat cancer, asthma, bronchitis, bronchial pneumonia, hepatitis, conjunctivitis, dermatitis, tuberculosis, impotence and infertility, stunted reproductive organs in newborns, retarded intelligence among children, and chronic coughing.

According to the complaint, the impacts of PPM encompass the following:

- Environmental impacts including a foul, irritating smell that pervades the town at periodic intervals, rusty and dry crops, reduced productivity of land, poor health and productivity of livestock, and fish stock reduction in the River Nzoia.
- Social impacts including deterioration of iron roofs and walls which increases the cost of home maintenance; high drop-out rates from schools; poor hygiene and sanitation; and food and livelihood insecurity.
- Economic impacts including the area's inability to attract business interests due to poor environmental quality.

The complaint also states that the project does not comply with specific IFC Performance Standards relating to pollution prevention and abatement, social and environmental assessment and management systems, and community health, safety and security.

### IV. Additional issues raised during the assessment

In addition to the specific issues described in the written complaint, a number of others were raised by stakeholders who did not sign the complaint. These stakeholders were identified by

both the complainants and by PPM representatives as people with whom the CAO Ombudsman team should interview for a more thorough assessment of the situation. Some, but not all, of these concerns are similar or connected in some way with those mentioned in the original complaint. The concerns are categorized into several broad categories, as summarized below:

#### Health Impacts

Among the most frequently raised concerns of those interviewed by the CAO team was the impact of PPM's emissions on the health and physical well-being of residents. In addition to the impacts described in the complaint many of the interviewed stakeholders believe these impacts to also include:

- Solid matter (ash and airborne foam) lands on crockery and food, especially in the morning when there appears to be less wind to disperse it. The ingestion of this matter is believed to cause numerous health problems that are unique to this area.
- Airborne pollution from PPM is believed to lower resistance, making residents more susceptible to other diseases such as malaria and tuberculosis.
- The pollutants are believed to result in the failure of some girls to develop breasts, and impotence and infertility among men.

#### **Economic Impacts**

Many stakeholders interviewed during the assessment believe PPM's operations are responsible for some negative economic impacts in Webuye, and there is broad agreement with those impacts as described in the written complaint. Additional issues not raised in the complaint, but described by many of those interviewed, included:

- Rainwater that is believed to be polluted from PPM's emissions ("acid rain") leads to reduced agricultural productivity, which increases the demand for food imported from outside the immediate area, at a high cost to residents.
- Those crops that are successful are said to be difficult to sell because of a general perception outside Webuye that anything grown there is contaminated and unsafe.
- An increase in disease rates is believed to be associated with PPM-generated pollutants and has increased the need for medical treatment, at a high cost to residents. Higher demand for health services is said to be increasing pressure on an already under funded and under staffed health care system.

#### Social Impacts

The majority of stakeholders interviewed by the CAO said they believe there is a general lack of information about the company – both its problems and its successes. While there is wide agreement among the complainants and other stakeholders that PPM is a benefit to the community, a number of specific concerns regarding community relations were raised during the assessment interviews:

 Many people believe that low information flow and the lack of a regular community forum convened by PPM results in an atmosphere of mistrust of the company and its environmental performance. Particularly among interviewees in closest proximity to PPM's operation, there is little awareness of what projects or community outreach initiatives are being undertaken by the company.

- A number of people interviewed said that requests for re-location compensation from the 1970s (when the facility was first constructed), and claims for compensation for work-related illnesses, have never been addressed by the company, or have been dismissed as unauthentic.
- There is general agreement among those interviewed that PPM's decision making about where and how to allocate social investment monies should be a transparent process that includes a cross-section of Webuye residents.

# Employee/community relations

A number of community members interviewed by the CAO were former PPM employees or have family members who currently work (or previously worked) for PPM. Nearly all of the stakeholders interviewed, including the signatories to the complaint, expressed confidence in PPM's recently appointed General Manager, who is regarded as someone with an ability to turn the company around, with a willingness to engage on the issues of most concern to residents. The community-relations concerns raised most frequently by these stakeholders include:

- Following a strike against the company in 1997, a number of people were reportedly sacked
  who refused the settlement offer that ended the strike. Those individuals say they never
  received a union-negotiated benefits package, and this is believed to have heightened ill will
  and negative perceptions of the company's corporate citizenship.
- Employees are believed to be largely recruited from outside Webuye, from entry-level jobs through senior management. Locals say they are uncertain how employees are recruited, or what the criteria are for employment with PPM.
- Many PPM employees are reportedly classified as 'casual' workers, even though they are given full-time responsibilities and have worked in the same position for many years. This also contributes to negative perceptions of the company and its wage structure.

#### V. Response and perspectives of PPM

From the perspective of PPM management, the company in the last several years has been demonstrating continuous improvement in both its social and environmental performance, and is complying with World Bank Group and Government of Kenya social and environmental requirements. According to the company's Executive Director, who joined the management team several years ago, PPM is operating under constant threat of closure due to its precarious financial situation. However, PPM says it is committed to restructuring financially and has a number of plans in place to improve what it views as an already good record of social and environmental performance.

PPM says it has been engaged for a number of years with members of CEDEP, the Webuye-based NGO that co-signed the current complaint, and is frustrated that many of the claims against the company are not based on sound science or evidence. Concerns similar to those in the CAO complaint have been raised previously by the same NGO, and PPM says it has been open to engagement and constructive dialog with those complainants. In response to the specific issues raised in the CAO complaint:

 PPM believes the signatories to the complaint do not represent the perspectives of the wider community, who benefit from the presence of the paper mill and the social development projects it supports.

- According to PPM management, a paper mill by design involves daily discharges of smoke and liquids. The smell associated with the facility is common to the industry and can sometimes be unpleasant, but it does not on its own constitute non-compliance with environmental regulations.
- PPM says it carefully monitors all discharges and that the project operates in accordance with ISO 9001 and 14001 standards. To retain its ISO certification, the company must conduct both internal audits as well as external audits by third party independents.
- PPM says it was visited by the National Environmental Management Agency (NEMA) and the Kenya Human Rights Commission, who investigated similar complaints of environmental and social non-compliances. According to the company, those agencies have not produced any public reports specifying non-compliances or infractions of Kenyan environmental requirements.
- Deteriorating roofs and metal fixtures, according to PPM, are a result not of the company's emissions but the quality and/or the age of the metal used in construction. PPM believes a similar pattern of deterioration of roofs is evident throughout Kenya, not only in Webuye.
- PPM's medical officer says the most commonly diagnosed health problem in the area surrounding PPM, and in much of the rest of Kenya, is malaria – not the respiratory diseases or other afflictions described by the complainants. They believe there is no evidence to support claims that pollutants from the factory are causing the range of specific respiratory, infertility, and congenital conditions as described in the complaint.

Partly in response to the complaint, and since the CAO's visit to Webuye, PPM management has drafted a Communication and Outreach Plan that seeks to address issues raised in the complaint, and to establish a comprehensive approach to community engagement. The plan acknowledges an "information gap" between the community and the company, and outlines a number of outreach initiatives that already have been undertaken or are planned for the future. The plan also describes PPM's commitment to designing a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) needs assessment, which it says will inform future CSR-focused activities.

The company has reported that implementation of this Communication and Outreach Plan is essential for raising awareness among the residents of Webuye about the range of PPM-sponsored social development programmes that provide benefits to the community. It further says it is committed to addressing specific complaints and taking corrective measures within its available resources, and to developing a comprehensive grievance mechanism through which current and future complaints can be systematically addressed.

# VI. Response and Perspectives of IFC

Since the mid-1990s IFC has been working with PPM to help restructure the company's finances. Due to PPM's perennial cash crisis, the project was transferred from IFC's Global Manufacturing and Services department to a unit called "Special Operations", which oversees turn-around plans for projects that are unable to meet their financial obligations to IFC.

IFC says it and PPM's other lenders are in agreement that the socio-economic impacts of a company shut-down would be significant, and that it is preferable for PPM to continue negotiating a plan to restructure and become profitable again.

In late 2004, IFC and PPM's other lenders recommended that the company commission a study of the viability, turnaround potential and best long-term strategy for PPM. The company adopted this proposal and submitted a restructuring plan in late 2006, which IFC and the other shareholders adopted in principle in January 2007. The IFC has been supportive of the key elements of the proposal – including government-led pilot projects that involve community and the private sector in forestry management and replenishment of a fiber shortage that has hampered PPM's operations.

Regarding the environmental concerns raised in the complaint, IFC states that while PPM has previously had incidences of exceeding certain IFC guideline limits, the plants overall ambient air quality and effluent discharge impacts remain within acceptable limits. According to IFC, due to its financial circumstances, the company has not been able to implement plant-wide technological conversions and upgrades of its 30-plus-year-old facility to meet current industry best practice. However, while discussions regarding a financial restructuring of the project have been on-going, the company continues to report regularly on its performance, including independent testing for absorbable organic halides (AOX) in effluent. In addition IFC says that independent testing completed this year by a reputed international auditing firm on ambient air and river water quality indicate these are within acceptable ranges.

The IFC says it will continue to coordinate with PPM and its other partners to ensure proactive resolution of the company's situation, and will support PPM in strengthening social development initiatives aimed at building trust and addressing the ongoing concerns of NGOs and residents.

### VII. CAO Ombudsman assessment of opportunities and next steps

Both PPM and the NGOs who filed the complaint, as well as a broader group of interested stakeholders, have expressed interest in improving the level of engagement between the company and the community. There is general agreement among the NGOs and community members interviewed during the assessment that:

- PPM should remain open. The company brings economic stability to Webuye and the surrounding area, and its closure could have a devastating economic impact.
- Disclosure of and access to information about PPM's environmental impacts is important to many residents who value the company's presence but believe the mill's emissions may be causing health problems and negatively impacting plants, animals, and buildings.
- Priority should be given to qualified local residents when filling job vacancies at the mill.
   PPM-sponsored training and mentorship programs could prepare young people and other residents for more senior-level positions that require specific expertise.

The complainants have requested that the environmental concerns be addressed through development of a collaborative Environmental Management Plan with PPM that includes a strategy for compliance monitoring and a forum for consultation and exchange of information among key stakeholders.

PPM says such an approach is not necessary, since the company already undertakes environmental monitoring that demonstrates compliance with government and World Bank requirements. PPM has proposed to address both the social and environmental concerns of complainants' and other community members through better communication and outreach with

residents, and by undertaking a systematic strategy for publicizing its environmental record and social development activities.

Improved communication and disclosure of information about PPM will help address the information gap that many stakeholders have identified. However, seeking the participation and input of other stakeholders in developing that strategy will be a key step toward building trust in existing information, demonstrating compliance and transparency, and ensuring a robust mechanism for resolving complaints.

PPM has committed to undertaking a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Needs Assessment to identify areas for improvement and opportunities for strengthening its community development activities. If planned and implemented in partnership with a larger stakeholder group, this assessment could be the foundation for an inclusive and durable process aimed at addressing specific environmental and social concerns, and at demonstrating PPM's stated commitment to transparency and community engagement.

The CAO Ombudsman team proposes to facilitate the design and implementation of this Needs Assessment by working with the company and the signatories to jointly identify the appropriate stakeholders who would participate in the process. Once a stakeholder group has been identified, the CAO would work with all the participants to:

- Facilitate a series of meetings at which those stakeholders:
  - 1) Identify and prioritize the areas of greatest need or concern to stakeholders;
  - 2) Identify goals, strategies and key stakeholder groups for addressing those concerns; and
  - 3) Develop work plans, ground-rules and timelines for carrying out the activities.
- Provide facilitation and logistical support throughout the needs assessment process.
- Monitor the implementation of any projects or activities stemming from the assessment to ensure agreements are implemented within stated timelines.

Because a number of specific social and environmental concerns already have been identified by the parties during the CAO assessment, participants involved in the company-convened CSR Needs Assessment process could use this preliminary list of issues (as summarized in this report) as a starting point for the facilitated discussions. The participatory Needs Assessment process could begin by refining or modifying the issues identified by CAO, identifying appropriate stakeholder or sub-groups to address those specific issues (i.e. health impacts, impacts to buildings, water quality, etc.), and designing consensus-based implementation strategies with goals, action plans, and timelines.

The CAO assessment period for this complaint ends on November 15, 2008. On or before that date, the parties must determine whether to attempt to resolve the issues through a negotiated process – either by pursuing the approach proposed by CAO, described above, or by proposing and agreeing to an alternative negotiated process. The specific design and implementation of the negotiated process would begin only after the parties have formally agreed to work together; the November 15 deadline indicates the date by which the parties must make a decision whether to pursue a facilitated resolution .

If the parties decide to work together, an 'Agreement to Negotiate' would be drafted and signed, and would be made public unless otherwise agreed by the participants.

In the event the parties decide not to pursue a negotiated approach, the CAO Ombudsman will conclude its involvement in the case and transfer it to CAO Compliance.

A CAO Compliance process involves an appraisal of the issues raised in the complaint to determine how the IFC assures itself that a project is in compliance with the relevant policies and guidelines. If the CAO decides to initiate a compliance audit as a result of the appraisal, a terms of reference for the audit is developed in accordance with CAO's Operational Guidelines.

###

The parties' individual responses to this Assessment Report are included in the attached appendices.

# Appendix I

# CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES (CEDEP) RESPONSE TO OCTOBER 2008 PRELIMINARY CAO OMBUDSMAN ASSESMENT REPORT

November 2008

CEDEP and the wider community groups are very grateful about your detailed report on the above mentioned subject. It is indeed a true reflection and assessment of our written complaint to IFC as well as the views expressed by members of the communities who were interviewed by the CAO Assessment Team during its field trip to Webuye in May 2008.

We are also happy to note that our complaint in this particular case met the eligibility criteria for intervention by the IFC. We are looking forward to a logical and satisfactory conclusion that shall ensure amicable and cohesive co-existence of the state holders.

We are sorry to learn that due to unavoidable circumstances, you had not yet received a response from RECONCILE. Mr. Michael Odhiambo promised to send it to you not later than *Friday October 30, 2008*. RECONCILE have been on the fore front in trying to find a sustainable solution to the perennial problems mentioned in the complaint and we want them to remain on board during this important moment in the reconciliation process because of their impartial and objective stand.

CEDEP recently took the initiative to meet the key and top Executives of Pan African Paper Mills Company. *Hudson Simiyu and I* discussed very openly with *Mr. N.K Saha* the Chief Executive, and *Mr. Nicholas Wanambisi* the Human Resource Director, about the issues raised in the CAO Assessment Report with view to finding the best way forward.

During the three meetings, we established that Mr.Saha is committed to putting in place a sound communication plan and enhanced cooperate social responsibility programme that shall (if implemented to the latter) improve the image of the company and create a harmonious coexistence with the communities for the mutual benefit of all the stakeholders.

However, we noticed that Mr. Saha was quite apprehensive and non-committal over the issue of *Environmental Compliance*, which is the major concern of CEDEP and the community. We feel that the company should also demonstrate clearly its commitment to tackle the issue of *Environmental Compliance*, the absence of which results in continued negative impact on the lives of the resident communities within Webuye and its entire environs.

As the enlightened members of the major stake holders communities, we in (CEDEP) appreciate and are equally concerned about the acute financial challenges that currently threaten the survival of "our company" Pan African Paper Mills. We wish to affirm our prayerful support and commitment to ensure a peaceful transition as we plan for implementation of the reconciliation process. We hope that commitment and trust shall prevail amongst both parties.

Finally, it is our strongly considered opinion that to reach a meaningful consensus and sustainable solution to the two major issues i.e. *Corporate Social Responsibilities* and *Environmental Compliance*, the best way forward is vide a "Negotiated Process" to be

moderated and facilitated by the CAO. This is the only option that we can ensure commitment transparency and accountability for both the parties and the attainment of the ultimate Sustainable Solution.

On behalf of the CEDEP and the wider community /Civil Society groups, I thank you once again for your commitment and spirit towards this noble course.

I wish you and the entire staff of CAO good health and God Blessings.

Eluid Kakai, Director CEDEP

# Appendix II

# PAN-AFRICAN PAPER MILLS (PPM) RESPONSE TO OCTOBER 2008 PRELIMINARY CAO OMBUDSMAN ASSESMENT REPORT

November 2008

Environmental impacts – including a foul, irritating smell that pervades the town at periodic intervals, rusty and dry crops, reduced productivity of land, poor health and productivity of *livestock*, and fish stock in River Nzoia.

- Panpaper employs the Kraft (Sulphate) Process of manufacturing chemical wood pulp which is amongst the most environment friendly pulping processes and is by far the most popular amongst the latest pulping projects worldwide. The process embraces pollution abatement and fossil fuel substitution principles. The odorous materials (principally reduced sulphur gases) associated with this process are not harmful in airborne concentrations, though community resentment tends to focus on the perceptible prevailing odour.
- The Company installed in-plant pollution abatement facilities apart from effluent treatment plants, since inception, and has upgraded them from time to time taking into consideration national regulations and international guidelines of the World Bank/International Finance Corporation (IFC). IFC has extended 8 loans to Panpaper, since inception, and for this to happen, it was mandatory that the mill operates within the stipulated World Bank/IFC guidelines and national environmental norms.
- New equipment installed in the factory include: the Multifuel Boiler, which runs on biomass (thus enhancing fossil fuel substitution); Electrostatic Precipitators (trapping chemicals that would otherwise have escaped to the atmosphere for recycling); and the new more efficient Turbo-generator.
- In the Chemical Pulp Mill, the flash steam escapes during blowing of the digester house which is the main source of foul smell. This flash steam is condensed/cooled in the Blow Heat Recovery System and the condensate is treated along with the main effluent of the Mill reducing the smell to a great extent in the atmosphere. By this process some spent heat energy is also recovered.
- Since inception, the company has made capital expenditure in excess of KSh. 1.5 billion towards the environment.
- We have a healthy ecosystem exemplified by the presence of diverse flora and fauna in our environment.
- Fishing activities in Nzoia River are normal, indicating abundance and diversity of the fish populations.
- There exists vibrant livestock rearing activities in Webuye and its environs, as exemplified by the weekly livestock market activities.

Social impacts – including deterioration of roofs and walls which increases the cost of home maintenance; high drop-out rates from schools; poor hygiene and sanitation; and food and livelihood insecurity.

- Constructed structures in and within the vicinity of the factory have generally lasted more
  or less since the factory's inception, and with no abnormal structural changes. Corrosion
  of metallic structures is a common phenomenon everywhere and will ordinarily depend
  on the quality and/or age of the materials used in construction.
- The best students within the Bungoma-wide District, especially at primary school level, come from Webuye.
- The standards of hygiene and sanitation within the company premises including the residential housing estates are acceptable and compliant with the country's public health requirements.
- The issue of food security has been addressed separately in this text.

# Economic impacts – including the area's ability to attract business interests due to poor environmental quality.

- Webuye's population has grown since Panpaper's inception, from about 500 people to over 60,000 to date. Correspondingly, the number of learning institutions within the Webuye Municipality (town) has increased commensurate with the population increase. Webuye is a cosmopolitan town, attracting people from across Kenya and outside. Other businesses which have sprung up within the town include supermarkets, banks, motor vehicle spare parts shops and garages, hardware shops and pharmacies etc.
- General Health Survey (GHS) studies indicate that public health trends within this region show no significant deviations from the existing situation in other parts of the Country.

The project does not comply with specific IFC Performance Standards relating to pollution prevention and abatement, social and environmental assessment and management systems, and community health, safety and security.

- Panpaper is ISO 14001: 2004 Environmental Management System (EMS) certified, by Kenya Bureau of Standards (KEBS), since year 2001. Internal Audits (assessment) are done biannually and so are External (KEBS) Audits (assessment). The last external audit was carried out in October 2007 and recertification, for the next three years, awarded with effect from March 2008.
- The ISO 14001: 2004 is an international environmental management system, a way of integrating environmental issues into the management function of an organization. It is a structured approach to controlling an organization's environmental risks and improving its performance.

- It is important to note that having a certified Environmental Management System (EMS) means an organization is in compliance with environmental and safety regulations among others.
- The concept of "planned continual improvement" is the bedrock of the ISO 14001:2004 standard.
- Occupational Health & Safety audits have satisfactorily been carried out, regularly, as per legal requirement.

Rainwater that is believed to be polluted from PPM's emissions ("acid rain") leads to reduced agricultural activity, which increases the demand for food imported from outside the immediate area, at a high cost to residents. Those crops that are successful are said to be difficult to sell because of a general perception outside Webuye that anything grown there is contaminated and unsafe.

- There has been no incidence of 'acid rain'. Available daily records regarding rainfall indicate that over the last 20 years, pH of rainwater is invariably in the neutral range and hence no acid rain.
- Agricultural activities around Webuye have perennially resulted in harvests of among other food crops: maize, bananas (including tissue bananas), vegetables, beans, potatoes, fruits such as avocado etc. are sold both locally and to neighbouring municipalities such as Mumias, Kakamega, Eldoret, Kisumu etc.
- The aforementioned crops are on very high demand such that the region can hardly satisfy the market.

#### **Health Problems**

- The best way to ascertain the accuracy and validity of health issues raised by complainants is to have a retrospective survey around Webuye and its environs up to 60 kilometres radius. This exercise was done by collecting medical data from various hospitals. Emphasis was placed in the outpatients attending these facilities.
- It was established that the most commonly diagnosed health problems in the area surrounding Panpaper, and in much of the rest of Kenya, is malaria not the respiratory diseases or other afflictions described by the complainants.
- There is no evidence to support claims that pollutants from the factory are causing the range of specific respiratory, infertility, and congenital conditions as described in the complaints.

## **Employee/Community Relations**

- Following a strike against the Company in 1997, a number of people were dismissed from employment who refused the settlement offer (return-to-work-formula) that ended the strike. The employees who were affected actually received a Union-negotiated benefits package in full and final settlement of their cases in accordance with the Country's labour laws.
- Regarding recruitment, middle and senior level management staff are competitively hired based on their qualifications. However, majority of the lower cadre employees come from within the surrounding community in a radius of less than 100 km.

# **Compensation for Relocation**

• Compensation for relocation from the Factory Site was handled by the Government of Kenya and the affected people were accordingly paid off and resettled elsewhere. There have been no claims for compensation of alleged work-related illnesses.